1965

Apex Lumber Company v. Comanche
Construction Company, Raymond Clark, Moroni
Feed Company, D.A. Shand, Howard Willardsen,
and Richard Jensen : Appellant's Brief

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This was a civil action brought under the provisions of Sections 14-2-1 and 14-2-2 of Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, whereby the Plaintiff-Appellant, Apex Lumber Company, seeks payment for the unpaid value of materials supplied by plaintiff to the Comanche Construction Company, and used in the construction of four pole-type turkey brooding barns on land owned by the defendants-respondents, Moroni Feed Company, D. A. Shand, Howard Willardsen and Richard Jensen.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Plaintiff, Apex Lumber Company, commenced four individual actions in the Third Judicial District Court, Salt Lake County, against Comanche Construction Company, Raymond Clark and the four defendants, Moroni Feed Company, D. A. Shand, Howard Willardsen and Richard Jensen. Comanche Construction Company and Raymond Clark were non-residents of Utah. On the defendants' motion for a change of venue, the matters were set down to the Seventh Judicial District Court, Sanpete County.

On stipulation of counsel, the four cases were joined for purposes of trial and tried before a jury. The court propounded a special verdict to the jury, containing six written interrogatories; and based upon the jury's answers to said interrogatories, the court rendered judgment against the plaintiff for no cause of action against the defendants.

Plaintiff moved for a directed verdict in favor of the plaintiff against the defendants. Motion for directed verdict was denied and overruled. Plaintiff filed a motion for a new trial, which was heard June 8, 1965. The court took the same under advisement at that time. On June 22, 1965, the court ruled on plaintiff's motion for new trial by denying same. Plaintiff appeals.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks reversal of the lower court's judgment and that this court adjudicate:

1. That plaintiff never received full payment for the ma-

terials used in the construction of pole-type turkey brooder barns on land belonging to the defendants.

2. That under the provisions of 14-2-1 and 14-2-2 of Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, plaintiff is entitled to hold the defendants personally liable for the unpaid value of materials used in constructing the buildings on their lands.

3. That acceptance of contractor's unsecured promissory notes did not constitute payment of the amount owing on the materials.

4. That the mere statement of plaintiff's employee that contractor was not in default with the plaintiff would not create an estoppel barring plaintiff's recovery from defendants.

5. That, as a matter of law, plaintiff is entitled to recover the amounts prayed for in its complaints, or, that failing, the cases remanded for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

During the summer of 1960, a contractor from Minnesota by the name of Raymond Clark, and holding himself out as President of Comanche Construction Company, Inc., (T-10) contracted with several turkey farmers living in Sanpete County, Utah, to build pole-type turkey brooding barns for them. The fact that Mr. Clark at this time had not incorporated his company and did not incorporate it until after the defendants' buildings were completed was not known by either plaintiff or defendants until later. (T-56) Comanche Construction Company transferred men and equipment from Minnesota to Utah and commenced work in October of 1960. (T-9)

Plaintiff's first witness was Guy L. Pittman, an employee of Comanche Construction Company, who came to Utah as the Supervisor of Sales and Construction. (T-9) Mr. Pittman, with authority to hire and fire the men, had the responsibility to see that the buildings under contract were built and to sell other buildings. (T-10)

With the help of Exhibit 15, Mr. Pittman's undisputed testimony (T-38, T-45 through T-51) showed that Comanche Construction Company constructed pole-type barns for the fol-

lowing people, starting and finishing the jobs on the dates set opposite their names:

Jobs	Started	Finished
1. Rulon Sowby	Oct. 18, 1960	Nov. 30, 1960
2. Ray Olsen	Oct. 23, 1960	Dec. 2, 1960
3. LaMont Blackham	Oct. 24, 1960	Dec. 21, 1960
4. Cliff Blackham	Oct. 29, 1960	Dec. 14, 1960
5. Moyle Blackham	Nov. 5, 1960	Dec. 21, 1960
6. Mark Christensen	Oct. 26, 1960	Jan. 7, 1961
7. Howard Willardsen	Dec. 12, 1960	Jan. 24, 1961
8. D. A. Shand	Dec. 13, 1960	Jan. 25, 1961
9. Richard Jensen	Dec. 14, 1960	Feb. 18, 1961
10. Moroni Feed Company	Jan. 12, 1961	Mar. 1, 1961
11. Warren Goates	Feb. 8, 1961	Mar. 1, 1961
12. Bruce Barton	Feb. 8, 1961	Mar. 14, 1961
13. Dick Barker	Mar. 15, 1961	May 3, 1961

With Exhibits 1 through 6, Mr. Pittman testified that he supervised the construction of a building 76 feet wide and 200 feet long with a 30 foot addition for defendant, Moroni Feed Company. He explained in detail what the building looks like and the type and quantity of materials used in it. (T-11 through T-26) Mr. Pittman's undisputed testimony was that the material used in the construction of the building was supplied by plaintiff; that this material included poles, steel, lumber and hardware. (T-26)

Mr. Pittman further testified that the three buildings constructed for defendants, D. A. Shand, Howard Willardsen and Richard Jensen, were 76 feet by 150 feet. With the help of Exhibits 7 through 12, he detailed the type and quantity of materials which included the poles, steel, lumber and hardware; that all of this material was supplied by plaintiff. (T-27 through T-38)

Mr. Pittman sometimes signed the farmers to a contract, and regarding the procedure for ordering the materials testified:

"A: When I sold these buildings, I sent the copy of the contract to Hopkins, Minnesota to Comanche Construction Company. I gave them the size and the spe-

cifications on it, and they sent the purchase orders to my knowledge to Apex Lumber Company and from there we received the lumber.

“Q: Did you have a supervisory capacity over the purchase orders?”

“A: No.

“A: It came directly from Hopkins, Minnesota, unless I had a shortage on the job I would call Apex Lumber in Salt Lake City, and they would deliver on the shortage of materials.” (T-39)

Mr. Pittman's further unchallenged testimony was that they had very little material left over on the jobs, cut-offs and this type of thing. (T-39)

At the completion of the jobs the defendants, in each instance, paid Mr. Pittman in full. The checks were sent back to the head office of Comanche Construction Company at Hopkins, Minnesota. Regarding the giving of lien waivers, the procedure was not the same in all instances. On occasion he gave lien waivers to the property owners. Sometimes these lien waivers bore the signature of the suppliers and other times they were signed only by him. It would depend on what he had been supplied by Comanche Construction Company. When he gave lien waivers signed only by him, it was with the stipulation that materials were not paid for by Comanche Construction Company. (T-43)

When questioned on whether or not he had received payment from the defendants, Mr. Pittman answered:

“A: I did. The fact is we may have had a few hours work left on some of the buildings when these people paid for them. There was no argument whatsoever with anyone about paying for these buildings.” (T-40)

Under cross-examination, Mr. Pittman testified that the cost of the material in these buildings was roughly between sixty and sixty-five cents a square foot. (T-76)

On redirect examination, Mr. Pittman testified all of the steel shipped into Sanpete County from Illinois was three inch corrugated steel, and this steel was used in the construction of the first six buildings. The steel was used in the four buildings of

the defendants was two and one-half inch steel. (T-78)

Questioned concerning material belonging to Comanche Construction Company that he might have sold, he was asked:

“Q: You testified some of the materials left over from the jobs were sold. Any material left over from a job in Sanpete County sold to anyone in your knowledge?”

“A: Not to my knowledge. Usually we was always short of material.

“Q: And what would you do in case you were short?”

“A: Call Apex Lumber Company and have it delivered out.” (T-78)

When asked about the crews moving the materials from job site to job site, he responded as follows:

“Q: And was all of the material at this time being purchased from Apex Lumber?”

“A: It was.

“Q: So whether it was taken from Jensen to someone else and brought back it was, all of the material was originally purchased from Apex?”

“A: It all came from Apex Lumber.” (T-80)

The next two witnesses were Darrell Ben Tucker and Piter VanderVaart, both employed at plaintiff's lumber yard. They testified that during January, 1961 they personally, with one other driver, delivered the lumber and steel to the sites of the Willardsen building, the Shand building, the Jensen building, and Moroni Feed Company building. (T-87 through T-95)

Plaintiff's next witness was J. W. Child, General Manager of the plaintiff. He testified that in September or October of 1960 plaintiff was requested by Raymond Clark to furnish quotations on materials. Plaintiff responded and in October, 1960 received purchase orders (Exhibit 24) from Comanche Construction Company for materials to be used in the construction of six pole-type buildings in the Sanpete County area.

Upon completion of the first six jobs, plaintiff received purchase orders from Comanche Construction Company for four additional buildings. (Exhibits 25 through 28 are these purchase orders.) It was the material supplied by plaintiff on these four purchase orders that went into the buildings owned by de-

fendants. (T-100 through T-104)

Mr. Child further testified that because material was ordered by the construction crews to make up shortages, the jobs could not be billed to Comanche Construction Company until they were completed. Prices on all materials were pre-arranged, (T-104) and as agreed with Comanche Construction Company, plaintiff was to be paid at the completion of the job. (T-105)

A summary of Comanche Construction Company's account was given by plaintiff in a letter dated January 30, 1961. (Exhibit 41) On February 14, 1961, plaintiff received a \$10,000.00 payment from Comanche Construction Company, and on February 21, 1961 plaintiff again wrote Comanche Construction Company to show how the payment had been allocated and to bring the account current. (Exhibit 42) Plaintiff maintained a ledger card on Comanche Construction Company (Exhibit 29) which Mr. Child explained at T-107:

"A: This is a copy of the ledger card, commonly referred to as an account receivable card, between Apex Lumber and Hardware and Comanche Construction Company. The debit items show the items that were sold to Comanche Construction Company and the credit items on the ledger card show the items the Comanche Construction Company paid to Apex Lumber and Hardware Company. And beyond this we show payments received of \$2,000 on October 20, and this was the beginning date, as I mentioned, on the first six jobs, and this \$2,000 represented a deposit that we required of Comanche Construction Company before we began shipping to them because of their unproven credit with us and pending our credit investigation of them. On February or December 6 they paid \$1,833.54, which would correspond with one of the purchase orders on those original six jobs. On December 16, they paid \$3,667.08, which corresponds with two of the purchase orders on the first six jobs. And January 10 they paid \$2,353.46, which again corresponds with one of the large jobs and the lumber furnished. February 15 they paid \$6,628.75, which cleared these original six jobs."

The next payment was the last payment received by plaintiff from Comanche Construction Company. It was for \$8,000.00, and Mr. Child testified that at Raymond Clark's direction the Bruce Barton job was given full credit and the balance of the payment was applied to the defendants' jobs:

"THE WITNESS: Thank you, sir. Mr. Clark came into my office and to me personally handed a check for \$8,000, and this was the final payment I received from Comanche Construction Company. This was on the 20th day of March, just six days after Mr. Barton's job was completed. And Mr. Clark informed me to apply this eight thousand dollars to Mr. Barton's job. Therefore, the five thousand three hundred seventy-eight dollars was credited here and the balance of this money, plus the four thousand one hundred eleven dollars collected prior were prorated to the jobs of the Hatchery, Shand's, Willardsen's and Jensen's as being the only other four jobs outstanding with Apex Lumber. After receiving these payments, the amount still due from Mr. Shand's job was forty-seven hundred forty-three; Mr. Willardsen's was forty-six ninety-seven; Mr. Jensen's forty-nine forty; the Hatchery forty-six seventy-seven, and Mr. Barton's job, per the instructions of Mr. Clark, was paid in full." (T-117)

Mr. Child was questioned as to what procedure plaintiff used in deciding to sue these particular defendants, and at T-125, with the use of the blackboard, answered:

"THE WITNESS: Thank you for your diligence. According to Apex Lumber's record, and I will not start with the first jobs because they do not apply, but the later jobs were completed on the following dates. Let's start with Christensen's on January 7. Then Mr. Shand's was completed on January 25. Mr. Willardsen's on January 24. Mr. Jensen's on February 18. Moroni Hatchery was completed on March 1. Mr. Barton's job was completed on March 14. Mr. Goates, this is a Lehi, Utah, job, was completed on March 1, and Mr. Barker's, which is the Kearns job, was completed

on May 3. These are the completion dates and the dates which establishes to us the precedent as to which were materials to be billed out first and which were last. After Comanche Construction Company took out their bankruptcy, lawsuits were then instigated against Barker for his job, Mr. Goates for his job, Mr. Barton was issued full credit, as I mentioned a minute ago, so Mr. Barton's job was paid for. Now Mr. Barker and Mr. Goates both settled their lawsuit. They, with Apex Lumber got together and we settled the amount and got the money from both of these brethren, both of these gentlemen. Then we took the total amount due, which is nineteen thousand dollars, and applied it to the very next jobs, which was Moroni Hatchery, Jensen's, Willardsen's and Shand's, which left this one out because these four would satisfy the entire judgment that, excuse me, the entire liability that Apex had against Comanche. There was nothing hit or miss about it. These were settled."

(Exhibit 39 is copy of blackboard exhibit.)

Plaintiff's extended billings to Comanche Construction Company (Exhibits 30 through 33) detail the unpaid value of the materials in each of the defendants' buildings. (T-120 and T-121.)

Commenting on the figure that Mr. Pittman used in his testimony of sixty cents per square foot as the basis for figuring the cost of the material, Mr. Child diagrammed on the blackboard another method of arriving at the unpaid value for which plaintiff is suing defendants. (T-110 through T-118) (Exhibit 37 is an exact duplicate of the computations put on the blackboard.)

When Comanche Construction Company failed to send more money, Mr. Child testified of his efforts to collect it:

"A: Yes. There were several efforts made to collect this money. We contacted Mr. Clark very frequently; made telephone calls, trips, engaged a lawyer, and one trip when Mr. Clark was in Salt Lake and I got him in my office and he committed that he had coming to him

within one week five thousand dollars and within two weeks he told me he had sixteen thousand dollars coming to him. And so I asked him if he would object to giving me a promissory note promising to me that he would pay this money when he collected it. And so Mr. Clark wrote out two promissory notes, one for five thousand dollars and one for sixteen thousand, and the five thousand one was for seven days only because he said he was going to collect his money in seven days, and the other one was for seventeen days because he said he was going to collect the sixteen thousand dollars in two weeks from some other source. And I had him give me these two promissory notes which would, I felt, obligate him to give me this additional money when he got it collected. And then finally we engaged a lawyer in connection with the defendants to this trial and brought suit against Mr. Clark and Comanche Construction Company and he took out bankruptcy and went insolvent." (T-121)

When asked if he had taken the notes as satisfaction for the money owing, Mr. Child answered:

"A: Never. In no case were the notes ever credited on to Comanche Construction's account. They were taken only to secure the payment of the funds he had promised him, but I certainly did not take them in payment of the account." (T-124)

Mr. Child further testified that neither Raymond Clark nor Comanche Construction Company ever denied owing this money. That on March 31, 1961, an audit of Comanche Construction Company records conducted by an independent firm in Minnesota revealed only a small difference of approximately \$160.00 out of a total amount owing of \$24,042.00. (Exhibit 34) The Barker job which finished May 3, 1961 brought the amount owing to over \$30,000.00. (T-123)

On cross-examination, Mr. Child testified that though plaintiff employed a man by the name of H. J. Rasmussen during 1961 as a bookkeeper, he did not have authority to issue lien waivers on behalf of the plaintiff. (T-149)

Defendants' first witness was Charles Devon Beck, an employee of Comanche Construction Company from November, 1960 until the spring of 1961. Mr. Beck testified that material was moved by Comanche Construction Company from job to job. On cross-examination, he testified that Comanche Construction used two small trucks, one a ton and a half and the other one a pickup, to move the material. (T-184)

Defendants' next witness was Mark Christensen. He testified that he was Assistant to the Manager of Moroni Feed Company and also a turkey raiser. That Comanche Construction Company had built a barn for him. During January and part of February, 1961 he had loaned his truck to Comanche Construction Company. Periodically he saw his truck with materials on it but did not know where the material was being taken. (T-185 and T-186)

Mr. Bruce Barton testified next for the defendants to the effect that he had Comanche Construction Company build a pole-type barn for protection for his sheep. He did not request a bond from Comanche Construction Company, did not ask for nor receive lien waivers. (T-189)

Next witness for the defendants was Clifford Blackham, a turkey grower and Manager of the Moroni Feed Company's Hatchery and Brooder Farms. Mr. Blackham negotiated with Mr. Raymond Clark for the construction of two buildings, one for himself and one for Moroni Feed Company. (T-190) On January 23, 1961, Mr. Shand and Mr. Willardsen came to his office concerned with whether or not they should pay Comanche Construction Company the final payment for their buildings. (T-192) They decided to call suppliers to find out if things were in order to make the final payment. Mr. Blackham testified:

"A: Well, I placed a call to Scherer Brothers Lumber Company in Minneapolis, Minnesota, and Apex Lumber Company in Salt Lake City to Mr. Rasmussen, because Mr. Rasmussen had signed my lien waiver from Apex on my own personal building. At the time I gave my deposition I didn't remember who I spoke to, but when I checked it out with the telephone company and got

their information I had talked to Mr. Rasmussen. And Mr. Rasmussen told us, told me that the accounts were clear and it was clear to go ahead and make the final payment to Apex Lumber Company. And on this basis of this information these men went out and paid for the buildings and we paid for our Feed Company building, the final payments." (T-195)

He testified that on the basis of this information, he advised Mr. Shand and Mr. Willardsen to make the final payments to Comanche Construction Company. He further testified that it was on the basis of this conversation with Mr. Rasmussen that Moroni Feed Company paid Comanche Construction in full. On cross-examination, he still maintained that, even though the date of the conversation with Mr. Rasmussen took place January 23rd and Moroni Feed Company's job was not completed until March 1st, (T-204) his fears had been alleviated and he made the final payments on reliance of Mr. Rasmussen's statement. He couldn't remember whether Mr. Rasmussen had informed him that all the materials that went into the jobs had been paid for. He stated that the reason they had made the phone call was for some protection; and when he was asked whether he had requested a lien waiver from Comanche Construction Company, he answered:

"A: It has been too long. I can't remember whether I made a request or not. I would assume that I may have done, but I don't know. I just don't remember that.

"Q: Would this be because you realize the importance of this lien waver?

"A: I do, yes.

"Q: But you didn't think it was important enough to get it in writing. Is that right?

"A: Yes. I think I would know to get it in writing. Maybe I would assume the telephone call from the people would be assurance to me." (T-211)

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