1965

Apex Lumber Company v. Comanche
Construction Company, Raymond Clark, Moroni
Feed Company, D.A. Shand, Howard Willardsen,
and Richard Jensen : Respondent's Brief

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

ARGUMENT

APPELLANT'S POINT I. The undisputed evidence proves

that plaintiff not only supplied the materials used by the contractor in constructing the building on defendants' land, but received only partial payment for the value of said materials.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER: THE EVIDENCE SHOWS THAT APPELLANT FURNISHED SOME MATERIALS FOR 13 DIFFERENT POLE BARN CONSTRUCTION JOBS, THAT MATERIALS WERE MOVED FROM JOB TO JOB AND THAT CONSTRUCTION ON THE JOBS WAS TAKING PLACE SIMULTANEOUSLY. THAT IN THE EVENT THE PAYMENTS HAD BEEN PROPERLY APPLIED ALL MATERIALS THAT COULD HAVE BEEN USED FOR RESPONDENTS' POLE BARN WOULD HAVE BEEN PAID.

The Comanche Construction Company contracted to build 13 pole barns for different owners. Not one of the owners obtained a Contractor's Bond and each paid in full to Comanche Construction Company the contracted amount. Approximately a year after they had all been completed and paid for, the appellant filed suit against these Respondents and three others. Two suits were compromised, one was dismissed. The third from the last of the thirteen pole barns was constructed for Bruce Barton. He was not sued because Appellant's General Manager, C. H. Child stated he was orally advised by Raymond Clark to apply a certain \$8,000.00 payment on this Barton account. Barton testified he never even asked for any lien waiver. Mr. Child on his deposition stated the request came from Clark in writing (which he couldn't find) then at the time of trial (more than a year after deposition) he testified Clark told him personally. The conflict is shown in the statement of facts.

There was a confusion of material between the 13 different jobs as there was a confusion of funds received for payment on the account.

Guy L. Pittman, the General Supervisor for Comanche Construction Company in Utah testified: (T. 78, line 29)

"Q. In regards to the material that was hauled back and forth between jobs, how substantial was this haulage back and forth?

"A. You mean how much of it was hauled?

"Q. Yes.

"A. Back and forth. Well, sometimes we would probably get a whole semi load of just three by threes in, and this was distributed to different jobs by our truck because most of these big semis would make one stop.

"Q. In this case would you leave enough to complete the job at the initial site of unloading and then distribute the rest?

"A. That is what we usually tried to do. The same thing happened on poles.

"Q. And was this uncommon or common?

"A. This was a common procedure.

APPELLANT'S POINT II. The undisputed evidence proves that under the provisions of 14-2-1 and 14-2-2 of Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, plaintiff has a cause of action against defendants for the unpaid value of materials supplied by plaintiff and used in the construction of buildings on defendants' land.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER: THERE WAS SUCH A CONFUSION IN THE USE OF MATERIALS FOR THE 13 POLE BARNS CONSTRUCTED AND THE ACCEPTANCE OF PAYMENTS THAT THE APPELLANT HAS NO CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST THE RESPONDENTS.

The Respondents admit they did not obtain the bond required under 14-2-1 Utah Code Annotated. However, the cause of action only arises in favor of the materialman when "payment for which has not been made". (14-2-1, Utah Code Annotated, 1953). In this case the Jury in answer to a special Question by the Court stated that payment had been made in full.

Guy L. Pittman, General Supervisor of Comanche Construction Company (T. 40) testified that each of the Respondents paid for the materials by checks made payable to Comanche.

Cliff Blackham testified that before the checks were delivered the Respondents were concerned over whether the material and labor had been paid for, so that he acting for

them phoned appellant to determine if payment should be paid to Comanche. On (T. 192) Blackham testified:

"A. Mr. Shand and Mr. Willardsen came to my office because they were concerned about paying for, making the final payments on the buildings.

"Q. Do you recall when this date was?

"A. I think it is the 23rd of January, based on my telephone bill.

"Q. When you say they were concerned about making the payments on the barn, what do you mean by that?

"A. They wanted to be sure that the materials and labor were paid for and that when they paid their money the thing would be properly closed.

. . . . then on Page 195, Line 12, Mr. Blackham stated:

"A. Well, I placed a call to Scherer Brothers Lumber Company in Minneapolis, Minnesota, and Apex Lumber Company in Salt Lake City to Mr. Rasmussen, because Mr. Rasmussen had signed my lien waiver from Apex on my own personal building. At the time I gave my deposition I didn't remember who I spoke to, when I checked it out with the telephone company and got their information I had talked to Mr. Rasmussen. And Mr. Rasmussen told us, told me that the accounts were clear and it was clear to go ahead and make the final payment to Apex Lumber Company. (Later corrected to mean Comanche Construction Company — Page 197, line 4 through line 9). And on this basis of this information these men went out and paid for the buildings and we paid for our Feed Company building, the final payment.

On Page 197 Mr. Blackham also testified:

"Q. Mr. Blackham, at my request did you also contact the telephone company in Moroni to ask them if they had any records concerning this telephone call on January 23, 1961?

"A. That is correct.

Exhibit No. 50 is the telephone company record of the call. Exhibit 51 is the telephone bill of Moroni Feed Company of the call. Exhibit 52 is Clifford Blackham's notes.

Exhibit 43 and 53 are lien waivers on two jobs (Blackham and Olsen) which show that Mr. Rasmussen issued lien waivers on two of the 13 pole barns constructed and that appellant held him out as being authorized to issue waivers. Obviously this appellant is estopped from complaining now after having advised these respondents to make payment as they did.

APPELLANT'S POINT III. The court erred in accepting the Jury's answer to question three of the special verdict, wherein the jury found that acceptance by plaintiff of contractor's unsecured promissory notes constituted payment in full.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER: THE COURT'S DECISION OF NO CAUSE OF ACTION WAS BASED UPON THE JURY'S ANSWERS TO ALL WRITTEN QUESTIONS, AND NOT JUST AS TO QUESTION NO. 3. EVIDENCE ABOUND THROUGHOUT THE RECORD UPON WHICH THE JURY FOUND THAT PAYMENT IN FULL HAD BEEN RECEIVED BY APPELLANT.

Respondents contend that the Jury's answer to this question does not indicate that the jury relied solely upon the promissory notes as being payment. The manner of the payments from Raymond Clark and Comanche Construction Company would be reason enough for the jury to hold that appellants had been paid. The matter of the Barton check and its application to the last job rather than to prior jobs is another reason the jury found payment. The jury could also have found payment by reason of the telephone call from Respondents to appellant which has been discussed.

In regards to the Promissory Note theory of payment which respondents argued without success to the court throughout the trial in the absence of the jury. Respondent contends it is not now material because the jury found payment without reliance upon it, instead relying upon the appellant's being estopped because of the telephone call.

However, Respondents did seriously contend that even without the telephone call the acceptance of the two Promissory Notes from the third party Comanche Construction Company, a corporation, by appellant under these circumstances where the notes were given by a third party, for an

increased interest rate and for security for payment on a disputed claim the question of whether or not they were payment should have been a question for the Jury and not the Court.

See *Tangaro vs. Manero*, 13 Ut. 2nd 290, 40 Am. Jur. 2 p. 715. See also 40 American Jurisprudence Section 92 p 781 where it states that "the question whether a note is given and accepted as payment ordinarily is a question for the jury and the burden of proving this fact is upon the one having the affirmative of this issue.

So also payment to an authorized agent will discharge the indebtedness, although the agent misappropriates the payment — 40 Am. Jur. Section 154, 94 ALR 779, 8 ALR 198.

It is also well settled that a Note of the debtor, although unsecured, which is accepted by creditor in satisfaction of an unliquidated or disputed claim, operated in accord and satisfaction barring an action on the original claim or debt. See *Smoot vs. Checketts*, 41 Ut. 211, 125 Pac. 412, 62 ALR 752. Where a third person makes the note as the corporation did in this case where before it was only the debt of an individual Restatement of Contracts, Section 421, and in 62 ALR 758 cites cases holding payment regardless whether the note was paid.

But regardless of this Note theory the payment question is no longer important because of the jury's answers to question which gave the court reason to hold appellants estopped by reason of its conduct.

APPELLANT'S POINT IV. The court erred in accepting the Jury's answer to Question Three of the Special Verdict, wherein the Court found that plaintiff's recovery from the defendant was barred by estoppel.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER: THE JURY'S ANSWERS TO THE COURT'S QUESTIONS 3, 4 AND 5 WERE BASED ON SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE PRODUCED AT THE TRIAL AND CONSTITUTED A SUFFICIENT BASIS FOR THE COURT TO HOLD THAT THE APPELLANT WAS BARRED FROM RECOVERY BY REASON OF ESTOPPEL.

As above stated in answer to appellant's Point II Guy Pittman, Supervisor for Comanche Construction Company, collected by check the sums due for materials from respond-

ents. These respondents only made payment based upon the telephone conversation by Clifford Blackham with Mr. Rasmussen of appellant company. These respondents phoned to appellant because they were concerned that all materials be paid for. Appellant instructed them to pay as they did and appellant should be estopped from now denying payment.

Blackham on (T 207) was asked by Attorney for Appellant:

"Q. What you desired from Mr. Rasmussen of Apex was not whether materials were paid for but whether Comanche Construction Company was in default or behind with Apex Lumber?

"The Court: Now do you have the question clearly in mind? If not, we will have the report read it.

"The Witness: I have it in mind.

"The Court: All right, You may answer.

"My answer is that I simply wanted assurance that the final payments could be made without any complications of legal action such as we are having today. I received that assurance from Mr. Rasmussen and on that basis we went ahead and made final payments on these buildings.

Then on Line 13 he answered Mr. Griffith's further question:

"Mr. Griffiths: Did you understand that the Shand job or the Willardsen job were completed?

"A. I remember this much that I understand that these men were faced with the final payment right away and they wanted information as to whether or not they should make this payment and still be safe. And that is why we made the calls. I made no survey as to the status of these buildings.

The Respondent Moroni Feed Company paid based upon the telephone call to Appellant. See Mr. Blackham Testimony on Page 210, line 8.

"Q. So I rephrase my question to you, Mr. Blackham. Did you expect the materials to have been paid for on January 23, for your job?

"A. When I talked to him on January 23, the assurance I received at that time that it was, that we could pay our bills, must have carried forth with me

until this time when I made final payment because we made these payments on the basis of what we learned from Apex Lumber Company's Mr. Rasmussen."

On Page 212 Mr. Blackham answered further:

MR. TIBBS:

"Q. Do you have any other reason that you would call Apex Lumber Company?"

"A. No reason. No other reason.

The Respondent Richard Jensen paid his account based on this telephone call. (T. 214).

"Q. Mr. Jensen, prior to your paying Comanche Construction Company did you have occasion to talk to anyone else concerning whether or not to pay Comanche Construction Company?"

"A. Oh, yes. I was much concerned and I talked to Art Shand. Art Shand said they had made an investigation and as far as he could see it was all right. He paid his. When he said that Cliff Blackham had made the calls to Apex and different companies that had furnished the material.

"Q. Did you prior to your making this payment know about this telephone call of Cliff Blackham's?"

"A. Oh, yes, I remember I talked to Cliff Blackham in his office when I was after feed before I made the payment besides talking to Arthur Shand.

"Q. Was it based upon this information that you inquired about that you made the final payment?"

"A. Yes.

The Respondent Howard Willardsen paid his account based upon the telephone call. (T. 224)

"A. There was a local man by the name of Neff DeLeeuw employed by Comanche Construction Company and he informed me during the construction of my building that they were defaulting on their payments, getting behind on their payments on their labor. For this reason, and two others, I was very concerned about the solvency of Comanche Construction Company.

"Q. So what did you do?"

"A. Well, before I made final payment, together with Art Shand, we went to the office of Clifford Black-

ham asking advice. We have a lot of respect for Cliff. And he said he thought he should call the suppliers of material and see if Comanche was solvent so to speak.

"Q. Do you recall when this was, when it was you went to Cliff Blackham?

"A. In my deposition I couldn't, but of course since we have traced this phone call. It is January 23.

"Q. I see, now do you - - what happened on that time to the best of your recollection.

"A. The call was placed to the company in Minnesota and Apex Lumber Company.

"Q. Were you present when this call was placed?

"A. I was present when the call was placed.

"Q. Where were you at?

"A. In the office of Clifford Blackham at Moroni.

"Q. Who else was present?

"A. Art Shand.

"Q. So the three of you were sitting there. Is that correct?

"A. That is correct.

"Q. And what happened?

"A. Well, of course I don't know, I didn't speak myself, but we received assurance from Cliff that it was all right with Comanche Construction, with Apex Lumber if we paid Comanche because apparently they were solvent and they had no concern about Comanche paying their bills. Certainly I wouldn't have paid it if I hadn't of had this assurance.

"Q. And was it based upon this assurance that you heard during this conversation that you made this payment?

"A. That is correct.

"Q. Now that was on November, or correction, that phone call was on January 23 and you made the payment on January 28. Is that correct?

"A. Correct. Correct.

"Q. (By Mr. Tibbs) When you were sitting in this office did you hear Mr. Blackham talking on the phone?

"A. I did.

The Respondent Arthur Shand paid his account based upon the Telephone Call. (T. 238)

"Q. Was it based upon this conversation with Apex Lumber Company that you paid this bill?

"A. Absolutely.

"Q. Did you have occasion to talk to Mr. Jensen sometime during this period?

"A. I talked with Mr. Jensen several times. In fact he kind of relied on me to get this information because he was out there on the farm. And he asked me if I, to give him any information that I could gather. And I did. I both went out to see him and I called him on the phone, and he called me on the phone.

"Q. You told him about your going up and your phoning to make out, make sure it was all right to pay then?

"A. Yes. I also called him and told him not to pay it prior to this, a week or so.

Then again on Re-direct examination of Mr. Arthur Shand:

BY MR. TIBBS:

"Q. Would you have paid it if Apex Lumber hadn't, had told you not to?

"A. No Sir, I would not.

"Q. You paid it in reliance upon the conversation of that telephone call in Cliff Blackham's office. Is that correct?

"A. Absolutely.

The doctrine of equitable Estoppel must always be so applied as to promote the ends of justice and accomplish that which ought to be done between man and man. Each case of Estoppel must in the nature of things stand on its own bottom. 19 Am Jur Section 33, 106 ALR 1169.

The cases themselves must be looked to and applied by way of analogy rather than rule. Equitable Estoppel is the principle by which a party who knows or should know the truth is absolutely precluded both by law and in equity, from denying, or asserting the contrary of any material fact which, by his words or conduct, has induced another, who

had right to rely on it, to believe and act upon them thereby changing his position in such a way that he would suffer injury if such denial or contrary assertion were allowed — Public Utilities Commission vs. Jones, 54 Utah 111, 179 p 745.

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